2007

Victor Plastering, Inc. v. Swanson Building Materials, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

III. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal is taken from the trial court's final order and judgment of June 8, 2007. This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(j).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Must the Appellee Swanson have an interest in the subject property to have standing to contest the validity of the Appellant Victor's lien?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The question of whether a given individual or association has standing to request a particular relief is primarily a question of law, although there may be factual findings that bear on the issue, an appellate court will review a question of law for correctness. Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Wilkinson, 946 P.2d 372, 373 (Utah 1997). An appellate court will review such factual determinations made by a trial court with deference. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994). Because of the important policy considerations involved in granting or denying standing, an appellate court will closely review trial court determinations of whether a given set of facts fits the legal requirements for standing, granting minimal discretion to the trial court. Id. at 938, 939.

PRESERVATION BELOW: The Appellant Victor raised and argued the issue of Swanson's standing before the court below. R.227; R. 322. As well, unless a party

has standing a court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate a dispute. A lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time. *See* Barnard v. Wassermann, 855 P.2d 243, 248 (Utah 1983). "[S]tanding is a jurisdictional requirement that must be satisfied" before a court may entertain a controversy between two parties. Wash. County Water Conservancy Dist. v. Morgan, 2003 UT 58, P 6 n.2, 82 P.3d 1125; accord Harris v. Springville City, 712 P.2d 188, 190 (Utah 1986) ("[L]ack of standing is jurisdictional."); Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145, 1148 (Utah 1983) ("[T]he moving party must have standing to invoke the jurisdiction of the court."). Under the traditional test for standing, "the interests of the parties must be adverse" and "the parties seeking relief must have a legally protectible interest in the controversy." Jenkins, 675 P.2d at 1148.

2. Did the Appellee Swanson meet its burden of production in prosecuting its motion for summary judgment before the court below?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Whether a trial court has properly granted summary judgment is a question of law which an appellate court will review for correctness, granting no deference to the trial court. Badger v. Brooklyn Canal Co., 922P. 2d 745 (Utah 1996).

PRESERVATION BELOW: The Appellant raised this issue and argued it before the court below in its written submissions (R.318) and at oral argument.

3. Do the procedural requirements of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2)(a) constitute a procedural bar, and if so, did the Appellee Swanson waive the benefits of that statute by failing to plead it as an affirmative defense?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Whether a procedural requirement in a statute operates as a claim preclusion rule or as a jurisdictional limitation is question of statutory construction. Questions of statutory construction are questions of law which an appellate court reviews with no deference to the trial court's interpretation. Projects Unlimited v. Copper State Thrift & Loan Co., 798 P.2d 738, 743 (Utah 1990).

PRESERVATION BELOW: The Appellant raised this issue in its memorandum in support of its motion for summary judgment (R. 228), and in its memorandum in support of its motion for new trial (R.319).

IV. CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

The constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations that pertain to this appeal are identified in the Table of Authorities and are fully set forth in the body of this brief.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant Victor Plastering timely filed it lien action to enforce its lien for stucco work it had performed on the subject property, but did not file a lis pendens

in relation to that lien action. It then filed an amended complaint and with that amended complaint commenced an in rem proceeding to declare its lien superior to the Appellee Swanson's dead lien. Rather than letting Victor proceed in rem against Swanson's expired lien, Swanson answered on the merits and personally appeared to contest the lien priority alleged by Victor in its amended complaint.

However, in its answer Swanson did not allege that it had an interest in the subject property. It also did not allege in its answer that it never received actual knowledge of the commencement of Victor's lien action, nor did it invoke the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2). Swanson then brought a motion for summary judgment arguing that it did not have actual knowledge and that under §11(2) Victor's lien was void. Victor cross-applied for summary judgment asserting that because Swanson had no interest in the subject property it had no interest in the litigation and no standing to invoke the provisions of § 11(2). Indeed, in its summary judgment papers Swanson asserted "that it does not have a present lien interest in the Subject Property and that it does not have any interest in this litigation."

VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS

April 13, 2004 The Appellant Victor timely filed an action to enforce its mechanic's lien against property in Utah County. Victor had

stuccoed the house constructed on that property and had not been paid.

February 10, 2006 The trial court granted Victor leave to amend its complaint and include in the amended complaint its in rem claims against Swanson's lien.

July 3, 2006 Swanson answered Victor's amended complaint on the merits. R.46

Dec. 15, 2006 Swanson moved for summary judgment on its expired lien. R.179

January 18, 2007 Victor opposed that motion and cross-applied for summary judgment. R.230

January 24, 2007 Swanson opposed Victor's motion for summary judgment by admitting that it had no interest in the subject real property. R.236

February 15, 2007 The trial court issued a memorandum order granting Swanson's motion for summary judgment. That order is never entered on the trial court's docket.

March 7, 2007 Victor filed a motion for a new trial on Victor's motion for summary judgment against Swanson. Because the Court had never entered on its docket its order dated February 15, 2007 Victor's motion for a new trial operates as a motion for

reconsideration under rule 54(b). R.315

March 21, 2007 Swanson filed its opposition to that motion. R.347

April 3, 2007 Swanson filed its second memorandum in opposition to Victor's motion for reconsideration of its motion for summary judgment summary judgment. R.380

April 13, 2007 Victor filed its reply memorandum in support of its motion for reconsideration. R.388

April 16, 2007 Victor's motion is orally argued before the court.

May 9, 2007 The court issues a memorandum ruling denying Victor's motion for reconsideration and directing counsel for Swanson for prepare a formal judgment to be signed by the trial court. R.402

June 7, 2007 Judgment is entered in favor of Swanson. R.416

June 8, 2007 Victor filed its notice of appeal. R.418

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Because the Appellant Victor Plastering timely filed it lien action but did not file a lis pendens in relation to that action, its lien was not void ab initio but under Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2) could be rendered void if a party with an interest in the subject property established that they did not have actual knowledge of the lien action within 180 days of its commencement. The Appellee Swanson's lien on the subject

property had expired long before it was made a party to the action and Victor named Swanson as a party defendant for the purpose of proceeding in rem against Swanson's dead lien by declaring it inferior to Victor's lien. That in rem relief was the sole relief that Victor sought in relation to Swanson.

In the proceeding below Swanson advised "that it does not have a present lien interest in the Subject Property and that it does not have any interest in this litigation," and in doing so acknowledged the in rem nature of Victor's claim to priority over Swanson's dead lien. By Swanson's own admission it could not incur any injury as a result of Victor's in rem lien proceeding and so lacked standing to contest the merits of Victor's claims to lien priority or to invoke the provisions of § 11(2) as a defense to Victor's lien claim. Because Swanson lacked standing to contest the merits of Victor's lien claim the trial court erred in granting Swanson summary judgment on the basis of its § 11(2) claim.

Swanson also failed to establish a prima facie case for summary judgment. It failed to show that it had any interest in the subject property, and in fact asserted that it had no interest in the property or the litigation. An interest in the subject property is an element of Swanson's prima facie case for summary judgment. Unless it establishes that element of its case, it had no grounds for summary judgment.

Swanson also failed to plead § 11(2) as an affirmative defense. Unlike Utah

Code Ann. § 38-1-11(1) which is a statute of repose and so an absolute jurisdictional bar to a lien claim that is untimely, § 11(2) by its own terms is not an absolute bar but only operates to void a lien where the defendant establishes that it lacked actual knowledge of the commencement of a lien action. Because controlling case authority defines a statute of repose as one which is an absolute bar to an action, § 11(2)'s allowance of a lien action even though a lis pendens is not filed, unless the defendant proves it lacked actual knowledge of the commencement of the lien action, means that § 11(2) operates as a procedural limitation and not as a statute of repose. As a statute of limitation § 11(2)'s provisions must be affirmatively pled in a defendant's answer (or asserted in a motion to dismiss filed prior to the defendant's pleading), or its provisions are waived. Swanson failed to plead § 11(2) and so waived its provisions. With that waiver Swanson had no basis for its summary judgment motion and Victor should have instead been granted summary judgment.

Swanson chose to contest the merits of Victor's claim to lien priority, without any basis in fact or law justifying that contest, which brings Swanson's defense within the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-18 and Victor is entitled to its attorney fees before this Court and the court below.

VIII. **ARGUMENT**

A. The Appellee Swanson must have an interest in the subject property to have standing to contest the validity of the Appellant

Victor's lien.

Swanson's lack of standing to seek relief under Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2) is exposed when the nature of the proceeding below is properly considered. Victor's complaint pleads an in rem request for a declaratory judgment finding that Swanson's interest in the subject property is inferior to Victor's. This in rem declaratory relief was Victor's sole purpose in naming Swanson as a party defendant. Because Swanson had no interest in the subject property and could not be adversely affected by Victor's claim to priority of its lien over Swanson's void lien, in responding to Victor's complaint Swanson had no standing to invoke the requirements of § 11(2). In fact, in the course of briefing its summary judgment motion before the court below, Swanson admitted it had no interest in the subject property and no interest in the litigation.¹ "One who is not adversely affected has no standing."²

Swanson's inability to prove any adverse effect from Victor's lien action is key to showing that under Utah law Swanson lacked standing to seek relief under § 11(2). Unlike the federal judiciary which is constrained by the Article III case or controversy clause, in determining whether a litigant has standing Utah courts focus on the

¹R.236.

²Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145, 1150 (Utah 1983).

separation of powers doctrine. Standing is a concept "rooted in the historical and constitutional role of the judiciary" as one of three separate and equal branches of government.³ Moreover, "the question of whether a given individual or association has standing to request a particular relief is primarily a question of law, although there may be factual findings that bear on the issue."⁴ Note that in this case there are no factual findings in issue because Swanson admitted it had no interest in the subject property. Under the traditional test for standing, a litigant must demonstrate a "particularized" injury, which in a lien action can only occur if the named defendant has an interest in the property.⁵

In Utah foreclosure proceedings are in rem⁶ and the question then arises of how it is that Swanson, which had no interest in the subject property, can demonstrate a particularized injury. Because this was an in rem proceeding, merely being named as a party did not threaten personal liability against Swanson. There was no requirement that Swanson appear and defend on the merits against Victor's claim. Only if Swanson, as an uninterested party, chose to appear and frivolously defend on the

³Id. at 1149.

⁴Kearns-Tribune Corp. v. Wilkinson, 946 P.2d 372, 373 (Utah 1997).

⁵Soc'y of Prof'l Journalists v. Bullock, 743 P.2d 1166, 1170 (Utah 1987).

⁶See P.I.E. Employees Fed. Credit Union v. Bass, 759 P.2d 1144, FN4 (Utah 1988) where the court ruled: "A proceeding to foreclose upon a mortgage is considered an action in rem or quasi in rem under Utah law. (citations omitted)."

merits against Victor's claim would Swanson be exposed to a claim for attorney fees. And even when Swanson chose to appear, it could have no proper interest in defending against Victor's lien claims, but only in advising the court that it had no interest in the subject property and that it was not contesting Victor's claims.

Because the attorney fee provision of the mechanic's lien act only applies to the successful party in a contested proceeding,⁷ where there is no contest a defendant who is named only for in rem relief against some property interest appearing on the face of the title, will not be subject to an adverse attorney fee award if it does not contest an in rem declaration that its lien is void. Restated, there can be no losing party against whom the provisions of §38-1-18(1) can operate if the holder of a dead lien does not contest the plaintiff's claim to priority. Utah's mechanic's lien jurisprudence "ensures that only parties that are genuinely 'successful' according to the trial court's common sense logic will be able to extract their attorney fees from their opponents."⁸

Originally, this was the procedural posture of Swanson before the court below. But then Swanson chose to convert an in rem declaratory proceeding to one that was also in personam by choosing to frivolously contest on the merits Victor's lien

⁷A.K.&R. Whipple Plumbing & Heating v. Guy, 2004 UT 47, ¶18.

⁸Id. at ¶25.

action. In doing so, Swanson chose to put itself at risk for attorney fees under § 38-1-18, but this frivolous defense by Swanson did not somehow magically provide it with the standing necessary to invoke relief under § 11(2).

Because Swanson admitted in its summary judgment papers that it had no interest in the property and no interest in the litigation, what then was Swanson defending? Certainly, it could not be defending its nonexistent lien, which Swanson admitted was void. How does one assert a defense on the merits in good faith knowing that there is nothing to defend?

To have standing under the traditional test Swanson must have shown that it incurred a "distinct and palpable injury" by alleging that it suffered or will "suffer[] some distinct and palpable injury that gives [it] a personal stake in the outcome of the legal dispute."⁹ The legal dispute between Victor and Swanson in this case concerns the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2). Not only did Swanson not plead the provisions of § 11(2) in its answer, thus failing to allege that it would suffer some distinct and palpable injury if the requirements of § 11(2) were not enforced against Victor, but Swanson in its summary judgment briefing admitted that it had no interest in the subject property, which conclusively foreclosed any claim of a distinct and palpable injury suffered by Swanson.

⁹Jenkins, 675 P.2d at 1148 (Utah 1983).

If further proof of the futility of Swanson's claim to standing under the traditional test is needed, examination of whether Swanson has suffered a distinct and palpable injury under the three-step inquiry used in Jenkins is conclusive.¹⁰ First, Swanson must allege that it has been or will be "adversely affected" by Victor's failure to file a lis pendens.¹¹ Leaving aside for the moment that in its answer Swanson never alleged harm under § 11(2), Swanson's admission that it has no interest in the subject property in any event disposes of any issue of whether it alleged it was harmed by Victor's failure to file a lis pendens.

Second, Swanson must allege a causal relationship between Victor's failure to file a lis pendens, Victor's in rem declaratory lien action and the harm Swanson would incur by a declaration that its dead lien is dead.¹² But unless Swanson has an interest in the subject property there can be no causal connection between Victor's failure to file a lis pendens, Victor's lien foreclosure action and the harm Swanson would incur by a declaration that any interest Swanson has in the subject property is inferior to Victor's. Swanson is simply a stranger to the property, and as a stranger is requesting relief to which it is not entitled.

Third, the relief requested must be "substantially likely" to redress Victor's

¹⁰See id. at 1150.

¹¹Id.

¹²Id.

failure to file a lis pendens.¹³ Again, not only did Swanson not claim in its pleadings any injury accruing pursuant to § 11(2), the voiding of Victor's lien because Swanson allegedly did not have actual notice could do nothing to revive Swanson's dead lien. Because Swanson could obtain nothing by the prosecution of a defense under § 11(2), it is impossible to provide it with redress by voiding Victor's lien.

"If the party can satisfy these three criteria, the party has standing to pursue its claims before the courts of this state."¹⁴ Not only has Swanson failed to satisfy all three of these criteria, thus failing to establish standing under the traditional test, Swanson cannot satisfy even one of these three criteria, which further establishes that its claims under § 11(2) are and were frivolous.¹⁵ The speciousness of Swanson's summary judgment motion is also confirmed by Swanson's failure to plead any factual allegations in its answer stating a colorable claim to standing under § 11(2), its failure to proffer any facts in support of its summary judgment motion establishing standing under § 11(2), and its admission in its summary judgment papers that it had

¹³Id. at 1149.

¹⁴Utah Chapter of the Sierra Club et al. v. Utah Air Quality Board et al., 2006 UT 74, ¶19.

¹⁵The remaining ground for standing available to Swanson is that this case presents a question of importance to the public and that there is no one else better situated than Swanson to vindicate that interest. Just stating the proposition exposes its fallacy. This dispute is purely private and there is nothing of importance to the general public to be vindicated by allowing Swanson to contest the validity of Victor's lien.

no interest in the subject property, which conclusively establishes its lack of standing under § 11(2). Clearly, it was Victor and not Swanson that was entitled to summary judgment and Victor requests that the Court so rule.

B. Swanson Failed To Meets Its Burden of Production on Summary Judgment.

The burden of production on summary judgment is different than the burden of proof at trial. At trial a plaintiff presents its case in chief and if at the close of that case it fails to present a prima facie case, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict. But where a defendant is moving for summary judgment a case presents a fundamentally different procedural posture because it is the defendant, as the moving party, which must produce proof sufficient to negate the plaintiff's claims against the defendant. Regardless of whether a summary judgment motion is opposed, unless the party moving for summary judgment under Rule 56 presents a prima facie case supporting its claim to summary judgment, summary judgment is improper.¹⁶

¹⁶See Badger v. Brooklyn Canal Co., 922P. 2d 745 (Utah 1996). We find that the manner in which these affidavits were presented provided an insufficient factual basis for the district court's ruling. Ordinarily, the opponent to a summary judgment motion must "set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e). However, that burden is triggered only when "a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule." *Id.* (emphasis added). "Unless the moving party meets its initial burden to present evidence establishing that no genuine issue of material fact exists, 'the party opposing the motion is under no obligation to demonstrate that there is a genuine issue for trial.'" *Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 445 (Utah 1996) (quoting *K&T, Inc. v. Koroulis*, 888 P.2d 623, 628 (Utah 1994)). The Madsen affidavit failed to

In this case, a key elements of its summary judgment claim was never proven by Swanson because it failed to prove that it had an interest in the subject property. The fact that Swanson had no interest in the subject property was, so far as Swanson could be concerned, the whole point of Victor's amended complaint seeking in rem declaratory relief against Swanson's dead lien. If Swanson had no interest in the subject property, it had no case for opposing Victor's claim that its lien was entitled to priority over Swanson's dead lien.

Indeed, not only did Swanson not have an interest in the subject property, it admitted that it had no interest in the subject property.¹⁷ Because Swanson admitted that it had no interest in the subject property and in fact no interest in the litigation before the court below, the only party with a litigation interest regarding Swanson's lien was Victor. As explained above, it had an interest in rem to declare Swanson's

negate any disputed issue regarding the impact of the change in diversion points on the private wells. Whatever expertise Madsen had acquired as an irrigator, it was not plainly pertinent to the question of impact on water tables; nor did he provide any foundational facts supporting his opinion. See, e.g., *King v. Searle Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 832 P.2d 858, 864 n.2 (Utah 1992) ("Affidavits of experts are insufficient . . . unless foundational facts are set forth supporting their opinions and conclusions."). Rather, he simply asserted in conclusory fashion that movement of water upstream could not impact the water table near plaintiffs' wells.

¹⁷See R.236, where Swanson states: "Swanson admits that it does not have a present lien interest in the Subject Property and that it does not have any interest in this litigation."

lien inferior to Victor's.

The trial court in its May 9, 2007 ruling found that Victor had plead Swanson into court by alleging that Swanson “hold[s] some claim of right, title, or interest to the aforementioned property and PLAINTIFF alleges that all [Swanson’s] claims of right, title or interest . . . [is] subject to the prior claims and interests of PLAINTIFF . . .” First, the trial court’s interpretation of this text in Victor’s amended complaint incorrectly reads the word “claim” out of that pleading. Alleging that a defendant holds some right, title or interest in property is far different from alleging that a defendant claims that they hold some right, title or interest in property. The former is an admission that a defendant has some interest in property, whatever it might be, but the latter is nothing more than an allegation that a defendant claims an interest, but does not admit that a defendant actually has an interest. By implicitly omitting the word “claim” from its construction of Victor’s pleading, the trial court improperly restated that pleading to make an allegation it did not make. A finding that Victor conclusively admitted that Swanson had an interest in the subject property should be based on something more than such a dubious and speculative inference.

The intent of the pleading is clear. Victor is alleging that it has a valid lien and alleging that whatever Swanson has, be it something or nothing, Victor’s lien is a superior interest. The allegation that Victor’s lien is a superior interest holds true

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