2007

# Victor Plastering, Inc. v. Swanson Building Materials, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## **V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Swanson had standing to contest the validity of Victor's lien simply as a party defendant. Swanson was not required to raise as an affirmative defense Victor's noncompliance with Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11 because failure to comply with the statute is not subject to waiver as it is jurisdictional. Victor's lien is void due to Victor's failure to timely file its lis pendens. This Court therefore lacks subject matter jurisdiction and should dismiss the appeal.



## **VI. ARGUMENT**

### **A. INTRODUCTION**

On February 15, 2007, the Fourth Judicial District Court granted Swanson's Motion for Summary Judgment based on the following: (1) Victor did not name Swanson in its initial complaint and failed to do so until nearly two (2) years after recording notice of its claim of lien, and (2) Victor failed to meet its statutory burden to prove that Swanson had actual knowledge of the lawsuit during the relevant time frame. (R.299).

Victor filed a Motion for a New Trial against Swanson, wherein Victor alleged that: (1) Swanson was not an interested party and had no basis to file an Answer; (2) the trial court erred in concluding the lapse of Swanson's lien was immaterial to the trial court's granting of summary judgment; (3) the trial court erred in ruling that Swanson's failure to plead the alleged statute of limitations did not result in a waiver of such defense; (4) the trial court erred in ruling that Victor's failure to file a lis pendens within 180 days of the filing of its mechanic's lien was jurisdictional (as opposed to failure to file a legal action on the lien within 180 days), and (5) the Court erred in law in reversing the burden of proof in a summary judgment proceeding, wherein it required that Victor demonstrate Swanson had any actual notice of the commencement of the action. (R.315).

In the trial court's Memorandum Ruling, dated May 9, 2007, the trial court denied Victor's Motion for a New Trial against Swanson finding that: (1) Swanson had an interest in the matter if only because Victor had filed suit against Swanson; (2) the lapse of Swanson's lien was immaterial as Victor had filed suit against Swanson and therefore Swanson had standing to file a responsive pleading; (3) a party's failure to comply with U.C.A. § 38-1-11 cannot be waived as an affirmative defense; (4) under U.C.A. § 38-1-11 (2) - (4)(b) a party's failure to file a lis pendens within 180 days of recording its Notice of Lien divests a court from jurisdiction, and (5) under U.C.A. § 38-1-11(3)(b), "the burden of proof is upon the lien claimant and those claiming under the lien claimant to show actual knowledge under Subsection (3)(a)." (R.402).

As shall be demonstrated herein, the trial court did not err in granting summary judgment in favor of Swanson. The trial court's subsequent Order and Judgment, entered on June 7, 2007, (R.416) should be affirmed.

**B. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT SWANSON HAD STANDING TO CONTEST THE VALIDITY OF VICTOR'S LIEN.**

Victor filed suit against Swanson alleging that Swanson held an interest in the subject property. Victor further sought an award of attorney's fees and costs against Swanson. The prayer for relief contained in the Amended Complaint reads in part:

3. That the Court adjudge that Plaintiff's Lien, attached hereto, is valid and that Plaintiff is entitled to the amount stated in said Lien, plus Court costs, reasonable attorney's fees, and interest at the rate and in the amount allowed by contract and by law.

. . .

7. For an order of foreclosure of the mechanic's lien recorded by Plaintiff against the Property for the amount of \$16,250.00 plus attorney's fees, court costs, and accrued interest pursuant to statute.

(Appellant's Br. Add. A, p. 7-8). Swanson was entitled to file a response to Victor's Amended Complaint if only to clarify that Swanson was not liable to pay Victor's attorney's fees and costs associated with the prosecution of its mechanic's lien.

In response to Victor's subsequent Motion for a New Trial on Swanson's Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court reaffirmed that Swanson had standing in this matter. The Court indicated that:

Under Baldwin v. Vantage Corp., 676 P.2d 413, 415 (Utah 1984), 'An admission of fact in a pleading is a judicial admission and is normally conclusive on the party making it.' This Court finds that Plaintiff [Victor] sued Swanson and Plaintiff [Victor] cannot claim now that Swanson has no interest and standing and cannot respond to the complaint. For the same reasons this Court finds it immaterial that Swanson's prior lien has lapsed.

(R.398).

Whether Swanson's prior lien had lapsed is immaterial as to whether Swanson was entitled to file a responsive pleading. It is unreasonable to assert that a party lacks standing to file a responsive pleading to a Complaint that prays for an award of

attorney's fees against such party. Swanson clearly had a stake in the outcome of this specific dispute. (See Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d 1145, 1150 (Utah 1983)). The trial court correctly ruled that Swanson was properly entitled to file a responsive pleading and seek relief. (R.297). As such, this Court should affirm the trial court's award of summary judgment in favor of Swanson.

**C. SWANSON DID NOT WAIVE ITS RIGHT TO RAISE VICTOR'S UNTIMELY ACTION UNDER THE MECHANIC'S LIEN STATUTE.**

A party's failure to comply with Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11 is not subject to waiver as it is jurisdictional. See Pearson v. Lamb, 121 P.3d 717, 722 (Utah Ct. App. 2005); Projects Unlimited, Inc. v. Copper State Thrift & Loan Co., 798 P.2d 738 (Utah 1990); Knight v. Post, 748 P.2d 1097, 1100 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). In Projects Unlimited, Inc., the Court indicates that "The commencement requirement of section 38-1-11 serves as a substantive restriction on the lien action and, unlike a true statute of limitation, is not waived if not pleaded." Id. at 751, citing AAA Fencing Co. v. Raintree Dev. & Energy, Co., 714 P.2d 289, 291 (Utah 1986).

Victor misapplies Projects Unlimited, Inc., by claiming that such decision stands for the proposition that a failure to file as required by Section 38-1-11 is not jurisdictional. However, there is a critical distinction between the facts of that case and the present matter. Swanson had no actual knowledge of the action. (R.196 and R.298).

**1. Swanson Had No Actual Knowledge of the Commencement of the Action.**

U.C.A. § 38-1-11(2)(b) expressly states that “the burden of proof shall be upon the lien claimant and those claiming under the lien claimant to show actual knowledge.” As amended, U.C.A. § 38-1-11(3)(b) provides “the burden of proof is upon the lien claimant and those claiming under the lien claimant to show actual knowledge under Subsection (3)(a)”. The trial court correctly ruled that Victor bore the burden of proof to demonstrate that Victor was entitled to the lien and that it had complied with the provisions of U.C.A. § 38-1-11.

Utah courts hold that constructive notice or inquiry notice cannot serve as a substitute for actual notice. See Interlake Distribs., Inc. v. Old Mill Towne, 954 P.2d 1295, 1297 (Utah Ct. App. 1998). Even assuming that a defendant had constructive or inquiry notice of pending litigation, such notice of litigation does not meet the requirement that a defendant receive actual notice of the lien. See Id. at 1298-1299. Victor failed to demonstrate that Swanson had actual knowledge of the commencement of the action as required by U.C.A. § 38-1-11(3)(b). (R.296-298). Indeed, Swanson submitted sworn testimony that Swanson had no actual knowledge of the commencement of the action until June of 2006, nearly two (2) years after Victor’s recording notice of its claim of lien. (R.196 and R.298).

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Swanson based on the fact that a lien claimant must file a lis pendens within 180 days from the date on which the lien claimant filed a notice of claim. (R.297). Failure to do so renders the lien void “except as to persons who have been made parties to the action and persons having actual knowledge of the commencement of the action.” Id. The trial court concluded that Swanson was not subject to the lien, or lien foreclosure, because it is undisputed that the lis pendens was not timely filed, and Swanson had no knowledge of the lawsuit during the relevant time frame. Id.

Victor argues that Swanson waived its right to raise Victor’s void lien as a defense as it was not raised in its Answer. However, Victor’s noncompliance with U.C.A. § 38-1-11 resulted in the invalidation and voiding of its lien. There is no issue of claim preclusion as with a traditional statute of limitations. An invalid or void lien, unlike a true statute of limitations, is not waived if such invalidation is not pled. Pearson, 121 P.3d at 722. Accordingly, the trial court correctly ruled that Victor’s untimely action was not subject to waiver, but was jurisdictional. (R.297).

**D. THE APPELLATE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION AND SHOULD ACCORDINGLY DISMISS THIS APPEAL.**

A Complaint to foreclose a mechanic’s lien must be filed within 180 days from the date the Notice of Claim of Lien was recorded in the appropriate county recorder’s office. See Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(1). The statute indicates that:

Within the time period provided for filing in Subsection (1) [180 days after notice of claim of lien], the lien claimant shall file for record with the county recorder of each county in which the lien is recorded a notice of the pendency of the action, in the manner provided in actions affecting the title or right to possession of real property, or the lien shall be void, except as to person who have been made parties to the action and persons having actual knowledge of the commencement of the action.

Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(2)(a).

A lien claimant must file notice of the pendency (lis pendens) of the action within 180 days from the date on which the lien claimant filed a notice of claim with the appropriate county recorder. U.C.A. § 38-1-11(1)-(2). Failure to do so renders the lien void “except as to persons who have been made parties to the action and persons having actual knowledge of the commencement of the action.” U.C.A. § 38-1-11(2)(a). Thus, an interested party is not subject to a lien where a lis pendens is not timely filed and the party had no knowledge of the lawsuit during the relevant time frame. Projects Unlimited, Inc., 798 P.2d at 751.

A party’s failure to file a timely lis pendens cannot be remedied and is fatal to its case. Parties that were not timely named in the action and that lacked actual knowledge of the lien are not subject to the Court’s jurisdiction. See Pearson, 121 P.3d at 717. See also Projects Unlimited, Inc., 798 P.2d at 751. Once a lien is void, the court lacks

jurisdiction over the matter. See Pearson, 121 P.3d at 722. In Pearson, the Utah Court of Appeals addressed this issue and concluded that:

Utah courts have thus ruled that failure to timely commence a mechanic's lien foreclosure action and file a lis pendens, like failure to timely notify the state of a claim against it, divests the court of jurisdiction.

Id. citing Interlake Distribs., Inc., 954 P.2d at 1297-99 (holding that liens were void because plaintiffs failed to file a lis pendens); Diehl Lumber Transp. Inc. v. Mickelson, 802 P.2d 739, 742 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (“Failure to commence a timely mechanics’ lien foreclosure action divests the court of jurisdiction.”); AAA Fencing Co., 714 P2d at 290-291 (holding that an untimely mechanics’ lien action is a jurisdictional issue and “forecloses [the parties’] rights”).

The Utah Court of Appeals recently addressed this issue in Foothill Park, LC v. Judston, Inc., 2008 UT App 113. In Foothill Park, LC, the Court confirmed that a trial court has no subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate a lien “once the lien right is extinguished.” Id. at ¶ 6, citing Utah Code Ann. § 38-1-11(4)(b). The Court held that, because the plaintiff had failed to enforce its lien right within the time provided by the statute, the trial court was therefore divested of jurisdiction to adjudicate the lien. Id. at ¶ 10. In fact, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal based on this very issue. The Court concluded that:



Because Judston's lien right became void when it was not enforced within 180 days of the first notice, we lack jurisdiction to further adjudicate the liens pursuant to section 38-1-11(4)(b). Accordingly, we dismiss Judston's appeal on this issue.

Id. at ¶ 17. This recent case reaffirms the longstanding rule that “An untimely action under [Section 38-1-11] is jurisdictional and forecloses the parties' rights.” Id. at ¶ 13. See also Knight, 748 P.2d at 1100; Pearson, 121 P.3d at 722; Projects Unlimited, Inc., 798 P.2d at 738.

In accordance with said longstanding rule, the trial court appropriately granted summary judgment in favor of Swanson because a lien claimant must file a lis pendens within 180 days from the date on which the lien claimant filed a notice of claim. (R.297). Referring to Section 38-1-11(2)(a) of the Mechanics Liens Statute, the trial court noted that a failure to do so renders the lien void “except as to persons who have been made parties to the action and persons having actual knowledge of the commencement of the action.” (R.297). The trial court concluded that Swanson was not subject to the lien, or lien foreclosure, because it is undisputed that the lis pendens was not timely filed and Swanson had no knowledge of the lawsuit during the relevant time frame. (R.297). Accordingly, this Court should either affirm the trial court's ruling or dismiss this appeal for lack of jurisdiction.

**E. SWANSON IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF ITS ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS PURSUANT TO UTAH CODE ANN. 31-1-18.**